
EXECUTIVE SERVICES 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process.

Contact: Committee Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk

4 February 2015

To: MEMBERS OF THE CABINET
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Cabinet to be held in the Civic Suite, 
Gibson Building, Kings Hill, West Malling on Thursday, 12th February, 2015 commencing 
at 7.30 pm

Yours faithfully

JULIE BEILBY

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART 1 - PUBLIC

1. Apologies for absence 5 - 6

2. Declarations of interest 7 - 8

Public Document Pack



Executive Key Decisions

3. Leisure Services - Review of Charges 2015/16 9 - 22

Item LAA 14/45 referred from Leisure and Arts Advisory Board minutes of 8 
December 2014 

4. Review of Fees and Charges 2015/16 23 - 48

Item FP 15/6 referred from Finance, Innovation and Property Advisory Board 
minutes of 7 January 2015 

Matters for Recommendation to the Council

5. Setting the Budget for 2015/16 49 - 50

6. Setting the Council Tax for 2015/16 To Follow

This report will take the Cabinet through the process of setting the Council Tax for 
2015/16.  As the process follows on from "Setting the Budget for 2015/16", a 
report will be circulated in advance of the meeting once the preceding report has 
also been finalised. 

7. Urgent Items 51 - 52

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Matters for consideration in Private

8. Exclusion of Press and Public 53 - 54

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.
 

PART 2 - PRIVATE

9. Urgent Items 55 - 56

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 



MEMBERSHIP

Councillor N J Heslop, (Leader)
Councillor Mrs J A Anderson, (Housing)
Councillor J A L Balcombe, (Economic Regeneration)
Councillor M A Coffin, (Finance, Innovation and Property)
Councillor Mrs M F Heslop, (Leisure, Youth and Arts)
Councillor B J Luker, (Environmental Services)
Councillor Mrs S Murray, (Planning and Transportation)
Councillor M R Rhodes, (Communities, Health and Community Safety)

Members of the Council who are not members of the executive may attend 
meetings of the Cabinet. With the agreement of the Leader, any such 
Member may address the Cabinet on any item on the agenda but may not 
vote.



This page is intentionally left blank



Apologies for absence

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Declarations of interest

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Leisure.ArtsAB-KD-Part 1 Public 08 December 2014

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

LEISURE and ARTS ADVISORY BOARD

08 December 2014

Report of the Director of Street Scene and Leisure and the 
Director of Finance and Transformation 

Part 1- Public

Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Key Decision  

1 LEISURE SERVICES – REVIEW OF CHARGES 2015/16

Summary
This report outlines charging proposals in respect of Tonbridge Cemetery,  
Tonbridge Pitch Hire Charges and the Summer Playscheme.

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 In bringing forward the charging proposals for 2015/16 consideration has been 
given to a range of factors, including the Council’s overall financial position, 
market position, trading patterns, the current rate of inflation, competing facilities 
and customer feedback.  The Board is reminded of the Council’s Leisure Pass 
Scheme which enables financially disadvantaged residents to participate in leisure 
activities at concessionary rates.  

1.1.2 The proposed charges for 2015/16 have also taken into account the set of guiding 
principles for the setting of fees and charges approved by Members of the 
Finance, Innovation and Property Advisory Board and reproduced below for the 
benefit of the Board:

1) Fees and charges should reflect the Council's key priorities and other 
corporate aims and priorities recognising there may be trade-offs as these 
are not mutually exclusive.

2) Fees and charges should have due regard to the Council's Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

3) If there is to be a subsidy from the council tax payer to the service user this 
should be a conscious choice.

4) The Council should look to maximise income subject to market conditions, 
opportunities and comparable charges elsewhere, in the context of its key 
priorities and other corporate aims and priorities.

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



2

Leisure.ArtsAB-KD-Part 1 Public 08 December 2014

5) Fees and charges should normally be reviewed at least annually (unless 
fixed by statute or some other body).

6) Fees and charges should not be used to provide a subsidy from the council 
tax payer to commercial operators.

7) There should be consistency between charges for similar services.

8) Concessions for services should follow a logical pattern so as not to 
preclude, where appropriate, access to Council services on the grounds of 
ability to pay. 

1.1.3 The proposed charges for 2015/2016, in relation to the Council’s facilities 
managed by the Tonbridge and Malling Leisure Trust will be brought forward for 
Member consideration at the next meeting of this Board in February 2015.

1.2 Consultation

1.2.1 Proposed charges in respect of facilities used by Tonbridge sports clubs are the 
subject of consultation with the Tonbridge Sports Association.  The Chairman of 
Tonbridge Sports Association has stated that “the proposed charges in respect of 
Tonbridge Sportsgrounds are acceptable”.

1.3 Tonbridge Cemetery – Proposed Charges 2015/16

1.3.1 As Members may be aware, there is a decreasing availability of new graves at 
Tonbridge Cemetery.  The charging strategy, therefore, takes into account the 
longer term management of the Cemetery’s capacity.

1.3.2 In bringing forward the proposed charges for Tonbridge Cemetery a number of 
key principles have been taken into consideration:

 The need to cover all costs, including some internal costs on new burials 
and services.

 The need to compare costs with other cemeteries in Kent [Annex 1].  It 
should, however, be noted that direct comparison with other cemeteries is 
difficult as pricing brackets, services and available grave space differ. 

 The need for the charging strategy to support the management of the 
remaining capacity in the Cemetery.

 The need to provide some affordable options, whilst supporting the 
principles of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

1.3.3 The principles referred to above have been applied to the existing charges and 
are reflected in the proposed charges shown at [Annex 2].  In general, charges 
have been increased by 2.5% to reflect the increase in grounds maintenance 

Page 10



3

Leisure.ArtsAB-KD-Part 1 Public 08 December 2014

costs.  An exception has been made in regard to burial of stillborn to one year 
olds, which have been retained at the present minimal level.

1.3.4 It is anticipated that these proposals will generate additional net income of £1,500, 
which will be reflected in the 2015/16 revenue budget reported to the Finance, 
Innovation and Property Advisory Board on 7 January 2015.

1.4 Tonbridge Sportsgrounds – Proposed Pitch Hire Charges 2015/16

1.4.1 This Council has an agreed policy with Tonbridge Sports Association of amending 
pitch hire charges to local sports clubs by the October Retail Price Index and 
rounded to the nearest pound.  The Retail Price Index for October 2014 was 2.3% 
and it is, therefore, proposed that charges be increased in accordance with this 
indexation.  The Tonbridge Sports Association has been consulted and is happy 
with this approach.

1.4.2 The sports pitch income is taken by the Tonbridge & Malling Leisure Trust as part 
of the Council’s management agreement.

1.5 Summer Playscheme – Proposed Charges 2015

1.5.1 Attached at [Annex 3] is a copy of the 2014 charges.  Income from the Summer 
Playscheme charges in 2014 was £30,059.

1.5.2 Members will note from [Annex 3] that the full weekly charge for the Summer 
Playscheme in 2014 was £38.  This entitled children to 20 hours of supervised 
activities, equating to £1.90 per hour.  Registration levels were high with 91% of 
the places booked, and a number of venues reaching full capacity.  
Encouragingly, 99% of the parents completing the 2014 Summer Playscheme 
market survey felt the scheme offered good value for money.

1.5.3 In order to meet the needs of those parents who are considered to be financially 
disadvantaged, significant reductions are offered to Leisure Pass holders.  In 2014 
a weekly charge of £13 per family was applied to Leisure Pass holders, with no 
limit on the number of children attending from the same family.  This level of 
concession is generous compared to other leisure activities provided by the 
Council and resulted in 35% of the children registered on the Playscheme 
benefitting from the Leisure Pass scheme. 

1.5.4 In order to support large families, parents are only required to pay for their first two 
children.  Discounts are also offered to parents booking two weeks (5%) or all 
three weeks (10%).

1.5.5 A proposed list of charges for 2015 is also shown in [Annex 3] showing an 
increase of £1 on the weekly charge.  It is felt that in the current financial climate, 
only a minimal charge in line with the rate of inflation should be applied.  An 
increase of 50 pence on the Leisure Pass rate is also proposed, continuing to 
ensure that the Playscheme remains socially inclusive, with cost not presenting a 

Page 11



4

Leisure.ArtsAB-KD-Part 1 Public 08 December 2014

barrier to those families most in need.  With regard to the daily standby charge it is 
proposed to also increase this by 50 pence, retaining the policy of encouraging 
parents to book for the full week. 

1.5.6 It is anticipated that additional income of £900 will be generated from the 
proposed increase in charges, which will be reflected in the 2015/16 revenue 
budget reported to Finance, Innovation & Property Advisory Board on 7 January 
2015.

1.6 Legal Implications

1.6.1 The Council’s Financial Rules require that all fees and charges must be reviewed 
at least once a year, and be reported to the appropriate Advisory Board.

1.7 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.7.1 The proposals within this report have taken into account economic factors and 
Members will note that, in the main, they represent a relatively modest increase to 
the Council’s revenue stream.

1.7.2 Charges for the Cemetery [Annex 2], the Summer Playscheme [Annex 3] and 
Pitch hire charges (excluding casual lettings) are exempt of VAT.

1.8 Risk Assessment

1.8.1 As highlighted in paragraph 1.1 to this report, the proposed charges take into 
account a range of factors including market conditions and customer feedback 
and have been brought forward within the context of the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

1.8.2 There is clearly a risk in proposing increased charges that those people on a low 
income and from target groups will no longer be able to afford to take part in 
activities and benefit from a healthy lifestyle.  The wide range of concessions 
available within the charging structure and the Leisure Pass scheme are, 
therefore, essential to ensure the Council’s leisure facilities and services are 
available to all.  There is also clearly a risk of increasing prices in light of current 
economic conditions.

1.9 Equality Impact Assessment

1.9.1 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users

1.10 Policy Considerations

1.10.1 Community, Equalities/Diversity, Healthy Lifestyles, Young People.

1.11 Recommendation

Page 12



5

Leisure.ArtsAB-KD-Part 1 Public 08 December 2014

1.11.1 It is, therefore, RECOMMENDED TO CABINET that:

1) the proposed charges for Tonbridge Cemetery as detailed at [Annex 2] be 
agreed and implemented with effect from 1 April 2015;

2) pitch hire charges at Tonbridge Sportsgrounds be increased as outlined 
within the report for implementation from 1 April 2015;

3) the proposed charges for the 2015 Summer Playscheme as detailed at 
[Annex 3] be approved.

Background papers:

Nil 

contact: Stephen Gregg
Darren Lanes
Paul Worden

Robert Styles
Director of Street Scene & Leisure

Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance & Transformation

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



TONBRIDGE CEMETERY PROPOSED CHARGES 2015/16
COMPARISON WITH OTHER KENT DISTRICTS

Maidstone 1 Medway 1 Dover 1 Gravesham 1 TMBC1

Current
TMBC²

Proposed
Baby 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.00
Child N/A *515.00 0.00 330.00 135.00 138.00

Purchase (£)

Adult 750.00 *1150.00 605.00 880.00 899.00 921.00
Plot 23 (single) Adult 750.00 N/A N/A 440.00 461.00 473.00

Baby 0.00 0.00 54.50 0.00 0.00 0.00
Child 260.00 255.00 237.00 360.00 181.00 186.00

Interment (£)

Adult 630.00 630.00 860.00 880.00 515.00 528.00
Plot 23 (single) Adult 525.00 630.00 750.00 660.00 515.00 528.00

Baby 0.00 0.00 54.50 0.00 1.00 1.00
Child 260.00 770.00 237.00 690.00 316.00 324.00

Combined Interment and 
Purchase (£)

Adult 1380.00 1,780.00 1,465.00 1,760.00 1,414.00 1,449.00
Plot 23 (single) Adult 1275.00 630.00 750.00 1,100.00 976.00 1001.00
Period of Lease (years) 30 years 50-99 years 50-99 years 60 years 60 years 60 years

Small 95.00 165.00 160.00 220.00 106.00 109.00Memorial Permit (£)
Large 190.00 400.00 360 340.00 224.00 230.00

Chapel (£) 200.00 77.00 145.00 140.00 88.00 90.00

Search Fees (£) £10 - £35 15.00
(per name)

37.00
(over 1hr)

20.00
(per name)

46.00
(per 5 names)

47.00
(per 5 names)

Interment of Ashes (£) 210.00 134.00 179.00 290.00 134.00 137.00
Memorial Wall Plaque (£) N/A N/A 85.00 N/A 134.00 137.00

1  2014/15 charges
2  2015/16 proposed charges
* Price includes memorial permit

NOTE: Costs are based on comparable services where available. 
All charges shown are exempt of VAT

A
nnex 1

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2

TONBRIDGE CEMETERY CHARGES 
PROPOSED CHARGES 2015/16

Please Note: 1. For burials in graves at Tonbridge Cemetery the fee payable will 
normally be both Section 1 and Section 2 charges.

2. All charges apply where the person to be buried or the person 
leasing the grave, etc., are residents of the Borough.  Residents of 
the Borough who have moved into a home or hospital outside the 
Borough prior to death are charged as residents.

3. All charges are doubled for non-residents.

Section 1: Exclusive right of burial in a grave for 60 years
Current 

(£)
Proposed 

(£)
(a) Stillborn – 1 year (inclusive) 

Children’s Plot only
1.00 1.00

(b) 2 – 12 years (inclusive) – Children’s 
Plot only

135.00 138.00

(c) Over 12 years 899.00 921.00
(d) Plot 23 – single graves 461.00 473.00

Section 2: Interment (including digging of grave)
(a) Stillborn – 1 year (inclusive) NIL NIL
(b) 2 – 12 years (inclusive) 181.00 186.00
(c) Over 12 years 515.00 528.00
(d) Ashes 134.00 137.00

(Memorial Wall or Grave, where 
exclusive right has been granted)

Please note: These charges apply to interments taking place 
between 0900 hours – 1500 hours (Monday – Thursday) and 0900 
hours – 1300 hours (Friday).  In other cases, the Council’s 
additional costs may be payable.  A fee of £50 per hour may be 
charged for late arrivals.

Section 3: Permits for Monuments, Memorials & Inscriptions
Current

(£)
Proposed

(£)
(i) Memorial not exceeding 1 metre in 

height and occupying an area not 
exceeding 2’ x 4’

106.00 109.00

(ii) Memorial larger than specifications 
in (i)

224.00 230.00

(iii) For each additional inscription after 
the first

81.00 83.00

Please note: Permits will only be approved in accordance with the 
Cemetery Regulations.

Page 17



Current
(£)

Proposed
(£)

Section 4: Memorial Garden
(i) Memorial tablet and vase block (to 

include plaque, inscription, 20 year 
lease and scattering of ashes if 
required) (Currently not available)

492.00 504.00

(ii) Double Underground Vault, 
Memorial Tablet and Vase Block. 
(To include plaque, inscription, 
20 year lease and interment of up to 
2 urns)

928.00 951.00

(iii) Double Overground Vault, Memorial 
Tablet and Vase Block (To include 
plaque, inscription up to 80 letters, 
20 year lease and interment of up to 
2 urns)

928.00 951.00

(iv) Additional Tablets 175.00 179.00
(v) Sanctum Panorama Vault and 

Memorial Tablet (To include plaque, 
inscription up to 80 letters, 20 year 
lease and interment of up to 3 urns)
Optional bronze vase container

928.00

29.00

951.00

30.00
(vi) Photo plaque or design on plaque 

for Sanctum 2000 Overground Vault 
or Sanctum Panorama

Individually 
priced

Individually 
priced

(vii) Additional cost for inscriptions for 
Sanctum 2000 and Panorama over 
80 letters

£1.50 per 
gilded 
letter

£1.50 per 
gilded 
letter

Section 5: Chapel Area – Memorial Wall
(i) Memorial Plaque.  (Includes supply 

and installation of plaque, 20 year 
lease and scattering of ashes if 
required)

134.00 137.00

(ii) Additional Inscription.  (Includes new 
plaque, installation and scattering of 
ashes, if required)

134.00 137.00

Section 6: Miscellaneous 
(i) Use of Chapel 88.00 90.00
(ii) Transfer of Burial Rights/admin fee 74.00 76.00
(iii) Entry in Book of Remembrance At Cost + 

Admin Fee
At Cost + 

Admin Fee
(iv) For up to and including five searches 

for names by one applicant
46.00 47.00

Notes: (i) Other services/options may be available and charged on an 
“at cost” basis plus an administration fee.  Please discuss any 
items with the Cemetery Registrar

(ii) A copy of the Cemetery Regulations is available free of 
charge from the Cemetery Registrar

Page 18



(iii) For the repurchase of burial rights for unused graves by 
T&MBC the Council will pay:
The current purchase price times the remaining duration of 
the exclusive right less the Council’s administration fee ruling 
at the time

All charges shown are exempt of VAT

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3

SUMMER PLAYSCHEME
PROPOSED CHARGES 2015

Tonbridge & Malling BC
Existing Charges 2014 

(£)

Tonbridge & Malling BC
Proposed Charges 2015 

(£)
Standard Weekly Charge

1 child 38.00 39.00
2 children 76.00 78.00
3 children 76.00 78.00
4 children 76.00 78.00

Leisure Pass Weekly Charge
1 child 13.00 13.50
2 children 13.00 13.50
3 children 13.00 13.50
4 children 13.00 13.50

Daily Standby Charge
Standard rate 9.00 9.50
Leisure Pass rate 4.50 4.75

Social Services Referrals Free * Free *

* Funded by KCC Social Services.

All charges shown are exempt of VAT A
nnex 10

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

FINANCE, INNOVATION and PROPERTY ADVISORY BOARD

07 January 2015

Report of the Management Team 
Part 1- Public

Matters for Recommendation to Cabinet - Key Decision  

1 REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 2015/16

This report brings forward for consideration as part of the budget setting 
process for 2015/16 proposals in respect of those fees and charges that are 
the responsibility of the Cabinet Member for Finance, Innovation and 
Property or not reported elsewhere.

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out for 2015/16 the proposals for those fees 
and charges which fall within the remit of this Board or which have not been 
reported elsewhere.

1.1.2 The budgetary guidance issued to Chief Officers for the 2015/16 budget cycle, 
and approved by Cabinet, reiterated the objective to maximise income subject to 
market conditions, opportunities and comparable charges elsewhere.  In bringing 
forward proposals officers have paid due regard to the guiding principles for the 
setting of fees and charges previously approved by this Board and endorsed by 
Cabinet.    

1.1.3 The proposals regarding fees and charges outlined in this report are incorporated 
within the Revenue Estimates to be found elsewhere on this agenda.  Any 
changes required following this meeting will be incorporated before the Estimates 
are presented to Cabinet on 12 February 2015.  The proposals are set out on a 
service by service basis with the recommendations at the end of each section.

LEGAL SERVICES

1.2 Legal Fees Payable by Third Parties

1.2.1 From time to time the Council’s legal fees can be recovered from third parties, for 
example costs in connection with section 106 agreements.  Our level of fees have 
historically followed the Supreme Court guideline hourly rates, which are currently 
as follows:

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



2

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

Solicitors with over 8 years post qualification experience 
including at least 8 years relevant experience

         £217

Solicitors and legal executives with over 4 years post 
qualification experience including at least 4 years relevant 
experience

         £192

Other solicitors and legal executives and fee earners of 
equivalent experience

         £161

Trainee solicitors, paralegals and fee earners of equivalent 
experience

         £118

1.2.2 It is RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that the Council's charges follow the rates set 
out above with effect from 1 April 2015.

1.3 Land Charges

1.3.1 The Local Authorities (England) (Charges for Property Searches) Regulations 
2008 enable local authorities to charge for their property search services – 
charging for access to property records or responding to official search requests. 

1.3.2 This is a volatile area of activity where income can fall, or alternatively increase, 
quickly.  The prolongation of the recession, together with the revocation of the 
personal search fee, has of course had an impact upon our activity, although we 
are currently experiencing an upturn in the number of searches.

1.3.3 In bringing this report forward market considerations have been taken into account 
where permissible within the appropriate legislation and we will of course operate 
a competitive charging policy where we are able to do so. In reality, save for 
unrefined data fees (which were introduced in 2009), the current charges have not 
increased since 2008. This reflects the challenging market conditions faced by this 
service. 

1.3.4 Furthermore, the size of the land charges team remains at only 2 FTE staff now 
and the turnaround time for dealing with official searches is currently 6-7 days. 
This remains unchanged from last year. Our continued move towards automation 
of electronic data e.g. all searches are now returned via e-mail, should also see a 
corresponding reduction in turnaround time. 

1.3.5 The following table shows the proposed fees for local land charges searches and 
enquiries proposed to be effective from 1 April 2015. No changes are proposed to 
the current fee levels.

Page 24



3

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

Current Charge
£

Proposed Charge
£

LLC1 (the Official Certificate of Search 
and the search of the Land Charges 
Register).

35 35

Con29 R (the enquiries of Local 
Authority’s form, comprising of a list of 
questions including matters relating to 
highways, building control, 
environmental health and housing).

135 
(Residential)

293 
(Commercial)

135 
(Residential)

293 
(Commercial)

Combined LLC1 &Con29R (full search 
on domestic property)

148 148

Commercial Search 299 299

Standard optional enquiry 15 15

Non-standard optional enquiry 18 18

Expedition charge 49 49

Additional parcel fee 10 10

Cancellation fee 31 31

1.3.6 It is RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that the proposed scale of fees for local land 
charges searches and enquiries set out in this report be adopted with effect from 1 
April 2015.

1.3.7 Members should note that during the next financial year a new form for enquiries 
of local authority Con29 is likely to be introduced.  This may result in a need to 
change the level of fees due to new information being provided by external bodies 
such as KCC Highway PROW and Access Service, who provide public rights of 
way and common land and village green information (for which we have to 
recover the fees they charge TMBC) or to deal with fees for additional information 
requirements which may be set.  When the new form is finalised any fee changes 
required will be reported to the Council for approval.

Page 25



4

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

1.4 Photocopying Charges

1.4.1 A photocopying service is offered for members of the public calling at the council’s 
main offices or requiring copies of Council documents sent by post.  The current 
charges are 10p for each page of the same document or additional copies of the 
same page plus postage as appropriate.

1.4.2 These charges are intended to cover the costs of the photocopy meter charge 
(including toner), paper and an allowance towards the staff time in looking out 
documents and postage where appropriate.

1.4.3 The level of charge was reduced in 2007/08 after remaining static for a number of 
years to comply with Freedom of Information requirements.  The marginal cost per 
copy (including paper) is still approximately £0.10 per copy. Comparative charges 
in neighbouring authorities have been somewhat difficult to ascertain and many 
appear not to charge for photocopying.  However, it is considered appropriate to 
retain a charge to avoid requests for multiple copies of pages and to cover cases 
where documents cannot be provided by email.  It is therefore suggested that the 
current charge be maintained.

1.4.4 It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet be recommended to retain the current 
photocopying charges of £0.10 (inclusive of VAT) for each page of the same 
document or additional copies of the same page plus postage as appropriate.

TONBRIDGE CASTLE

1.5 Tonbridge Castle Gatehouse Charges 

1.5.1 As Members may be aware, the charges for Tonbridge Castle Gatehouse are 
reviewed at this time for implementation in the next financial year.  This allows the 
revised prices to be incorporated in tourism marketing material, much of which is 
published during the winter months.

1.5.2 Visitors to the Gatehouse continue to be very positive about the experience and 
the value for money offered.  The schools market has shown growth this year, but 
it is essential to remain competitive in this market.

1.5.3 A feedback form has been introduced for monitoring school groups.  To date all 
elements of the service provided at the Gatehouse have been rated as either 
“very good” or “excellent”. 

The current 2014/15 charges for a number of neighbouring attractions, along with 
the current charges for Tonbridge Castle Gatehouse are shown at [Annex 1].  
Members will be aware that when reviewing charges, the general approach is to 
consider not only the prevailing inflation figures, but also to take account of 

Page 26



5

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

competitor charges and local market conditions.  The following table shows the 
proposed charges:

Existing Charge 
2014/15

(£)

Proposed Charge
2015/16

(£)
Adult   7.70   8.00
Concessions
(Jun/OAP/Student/Leisure Pass)

  4.40   4.70

Family ticket 21.00 22.00
Education Facilities (1 teacher free per 10 
children.  For special needs groups, carers 
admitted free as required)

65.00 65.00

Season ticket (adult) 20.00 20.00
Season ticket (concession)  15.00  15.00

1.5.4 It is estimated that the proposed increases will provide approximately £1,800 of 
additional income.

1.5.5 It is, therefore, RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that:

1) the proposed charges for Tonbridge Castle Gatehouse as outlined above 
be agreed for implementation from 1 April 2015; and 

2) these charges be reflected in the appropriate tourism marketing material.

1.6 Tonbridge Castle Hire Charges 

1.6.1 The Council Chamber is used for a number of purposes, including Member and 
Officer meetings, weddings, private hire and concessionary use by a number of 
local organisations.

1.6.2 Several years ago a minimal charge was introduced for concessionary users.  It is 
recognised that this concessionary charge is greatly valued by these 
organisations.  It is proposed that a concessionary user charge be retained to 
reflect ongoing support for local organisations.

1.6.3 The list of concessionary users was agreed by Cabinet on 4 February 2014 
(D140011CAB) and some amendments are proposed as shown in bold [see 
Annex 2]. Concessionary use is subject to a number of restrictions as shown in 
[Annex 3].

1.6.4 The Director of Central Services has brought forward proposed charges for all 
users of the Chamber, which are set out at [Annex 4].  Annual income from the 
hire of the Chamber is approximately £2500, and it is estimated that the proposed 
charges will generate additional income of £80.

Page 27



6

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

1.7 Tonbridge Castle Wedding Charges

1.7.1 Current wedding charges were agreed by Cabinet on 4 February 2014 (Decision 
D140011CAB).  Members agreed a charge of £735 for weddings in the Chamber 
and £1100 for weddings in the Gatehouse for 2014/15.  Charges of £770 and 
£1150 respectively were also agreed for 2015/16

1.7.2 The current charges at a number of premises licensed for Civil Marriages are 
shown in [Annex 5] 

1.7.3 Weddings are often booked more than one year in advance and applications are 
now being received for 2016/17. It is, therefore, necessary to consider a charge 
for implementation from 1 April 2016, as Members have already agreed the 
charges for 2015/16.  The Director of Central Services has proposed an increase 
of around 4% for the following charges in 2016/17, which will generate additional 
net income of approximately £800:

Current 
Charge 

2014/15 (£)

Agreed 
Charge 

2015/16 (£)

Proposed 
Charge

2016/17(£)
Weddings
 Chamber 735 770 800
 Gatehouse 1100 1150 1200
Renewal of Vows/Baby Naming
 Chamber 540 560 560
 Gatehouse 875 900 900

1.7.4 NB: Non-returnable deposit - £100

1.7.5 To aid Members, all proposed charges are inclusive of VAT where applicable.

1.7.6 There is a risk that excessive increases in charges could deter our customers and 
lead to a fall in overall income.  Dialogue with customers and comparison with 
other attractions has been taken into consideration in bringing these charges 
forward.

1.7.1 It is, therefore, RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that:

1) the proposed charges for Tonbridge Castle Chamber as set out in Annex 4 
be agreed for implementation from 1 April 2015; and 

2) the proposed charges for Weddings as outlined in paragraph 1.7.3 above 
be agreed for implementation from 1 April 2016.

1.8 CAR PARKING

1.8.1 A comprehensive review of parking charges was undertaken towards the end of 
2013 which resulted in a number of changes which came into effect in April 2014. 
We have reviewed the level of our current charges against the prevailing picture in 

Page 28



7

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

nearby areas and generally against the current economic climate and have come 
to the general conclusion that no changes are appropriate currently. Moreover, 
most of the car parks where we currently charge are located in central Tonbridge 
and in view of KCC’s significant enhancement works for Tonbridge High Street 
programmed for 2015 we consider the next review of parking charges should be 
undertaken following these works in about 12 months’ time.

1.8.2 It is RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that no changes are made to parking charges 
this year and that these should be reviewed again in 12 months’ time.

1.9 BUILDING CONTROL

1.9.1 Our Building Control fee structure was aligned to Sevenoaks in 2012, that 
alignment has eased the transition to the shared Building Control Partnership, 
which went live on 1 October 2014.

1.9.2 The shared service has resulted in savings in the region of £100,000 across the 
two Councils.  Given the level of saving and the requirement to ensure that the 
customer pays for the cost of the service delivered, but no more and no less, it is 
RECOMMENDED that the fees are held at the same level as last year for a further 
12 months, when they will be reviewed again. It should be noted that the current 
level of fees remain competitive with the private sector.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND STREET SCENE SERVICES

1.10 Condemned Food Certificates

1.10.1 This is a service available to food businesses in the borough which properly 
controls the safe surrender and disposal of food deemed by environmental health 
staff as unfit for human consumption.  The service continues to reflect legislative 
requirements for stricter controls and is based on total cost recovery.  The 
proposed charges, as set out below, continue to reflect this approach and to 
reflect the Council’s Budget Strategy.

1.10.2 Recent years have seen a significant decline in the number of certificates 
requested. The lower income rate is reflected in the revised and estimated 
revenue budgets. 

Service Current Charge Recommended 
Charge 15/16

Income 
Full Year

For each 
Condemned 
Food Certificate 
issued

£135 for first hour plus 
£135 for each 

additional hour plus 
VAT

£138 for first hour plus 
£138 for each 

additional hour plus 
VAT

£138

The proposed total charge of £138 + VAT is within the range of those Kent 
authorities that provided information. Dartford & Sevenoaks Environmental Health 
Partnership charge £165 + VAT minimum charge for up to 2 hours and £65 for 

Page 29



8

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

every hour or part thereof.  Gravesham charge £100 plus £25 per hour for every 
hour or part thereof. Maidstone charge £73.50 plus officer time at £78.75 per hour.

1.11 Exported Food Certificates

1.11.1 This is a service provided by the Council for a food exporter who exports food 
outside the European Union.  In this instance, authorising officers of the Borough 
Council certify that the food products being exported have been manufactured and 
held under hygienic conditions in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 
(EC) 852/2004 and The Food Safety & Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013.  The 
premises are subject to regular inspection by Food and Safety Officers.

1.11.2 The proposed charges, as set out below, continue to reflect this approach and to 
reflect the Council’s Budget Strategy.  As with condemned food certificates this 
service reflects legislative requirements and is based on total cost recovery. 

1.11.3 The number of certificates required has remained high for several years and it is 
anticipated this higher level will be maintained.  

Service Current 
Charge

Recommended 
Charge 15/16

Income 
Full Year

For each Exported Food 
Certificate issued

£135 plus VAT per 
certificate

£138 plus VAT per 
certificate.

£1900

1.11.4 The proposed total charge of £138 + VAT is within the range of those Kent 
authorities that provided information. Dartford & Sevenoaks Environmental Health 
Partnership charge are not currently charging for these as they only have 2 or 3 
requests per year.  Maidstone charge 121.80 + VAT.  Gravesham Borough 
Council have not been required to issue any for a number of years but would 
charge as per Condemned Food Certificates.

1.12 Contaminated Land

1.12.1 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 Part 2A requires local authorities to 
implement a system for the identification and remediation of land where 
contamination is causing a risk to human health or the wider environment because 
of historic or current uses.  

1.12.2 The Environmental Protection Team provides a contaminated land information 
service or assessment of risk for which it currently makes a charge of £50 per 
hour in responding to these requests for information

1.12.3 Guidance from the Information Commissioner advises that local authorities can 
make a reasonable charge.  We have assumed that a reasonable charge includes 
the hourly rate of the officer responsible for providing information, on-costs and an 
administration charge. 

Page 30



9

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

1.12.4 The fee has been derived based upon comparison with other Kent local 
authorities.  Sevenoaks charge £50, Tunbridge Wells £150, Maidstone BC charge 
£63; Medway a one off charge of £150. Thanet DC, Swale BC and Gravesham 
BC currently charge between £36 and £75 per hour.  There is no maximum fee 
under the legislation.

1.12.5 The revised income estimates for this year and next have risen from £1,000 to 
£2,500 (based on the current year) and it is assumed the number of requests for 
information will remain high.  

The officer in charge of providing this information is in a shared post arrangement 
with Gravesham Borough Council. We propose to maintain the charge at £50 per 
hour in responding to these requests for information. 

Service Current 
Charge

Recommended
Charge

Income Full 
Year

Responding to 
requests for 
information relating 
to contaminated 
land

£50 per 
hour (1 hour 

minimum 
charge)

£50 per hour (1 hour 
minimum charge) 

£2,500

1.13 Private Water Supplies

1.13.1 The Private Water Supplies Regulations 2009 introduced a statutory and more 
onerous regime for the risk assessment and sampling of private water supplies.

1.13.2 In a report to the Local Environmental Management Advisory Board on 
28 February, 2011 it was agreed to introduce a charge to recover the cost of 
officers’ time. In addition, owners of private water supplies and private distribution 
networks will be charged for the cost of sample analysis.

1.13.3 We have reviewed the cost of providing this service and propose to maintain the 
charge at £45 per hour, plus the cost of sample analysis.

1.13.4 The fee has been derived based upon comparison with other Kent local 
authorities.  Maidstone BC £105 one off Tunbridge Wells BC (£40 per hour), 
Sevenoaks DC (£35 per hour), Medway (£41.50), Dartford (NA) and Gravesham 
BC currently charge between £35 and £60 per hour. These charges are subject to 
a maximum limit which is set out under the Private Water Supplies (PWS) 
Regulations 2009.

1.13.5 As each private water supply is very different, the officer time for each visit/ risk 
assessment is difficult to quantify. The projected income for the year is based 
upon the officer’s projected workload for the year.     

Page 31



10

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

Service Current 
Charge

Recommended
Charge

Income Full 
Year

Carrying out 
sampling and risk 
assessment of 
private water 
supplies

£45 per 
hour (1 hour 

minimum 
charge) plus 

VAT

£45 per hour (1 hour 
minimum charge) plus 

VAT

£1,550

1.14 Stray Dog Redemption Fees

1.14.1 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 prescribes that a person claiming to be 
the owner of a dog seized as a stray by the Council shall not be entitled to the 
return of the dog unless all the expenses incurred by reason of its detention, and 
such further amount as is for the time being prescribed, are met.  The 
Environmental Protection (Stray Dogs) Regulations 1992 set down a prescribed 
redemption fee of £25 and provides for local authorities to recover their other 
reasonable expenses, in addition to any other expenses incurred, such as 
kennelling costs.  

1.14.2 Where a dog is taken to kennels we charge the owner for the other reasonable 
expenses, associated with the costs of providing our Dog Warden contract and 
admin costs. This is presently set at £53.  The total fee charged by the Council is 
£78.  We recommend that the administration fee be increased this year to £54 
with no formal waiver or discount, but we will continue to exercise discretion to 
allow payment by instalments.  The proposed total charge of £79 is still within the 
range of those of neighbouring councils as below.

Maidstone B.C. Sevenoaks D.C. Tun. Wells B.C. Dartford B.C

£60 including 
statutory fee. Not 

including 
Kennelling fees.

£80 including 
statutory fee. Not 

including Kennelling 
fees.

£55 including 
statutory 

fee. Not including 
Kennelling fees.

£55 including 
statutory 

fee. Not including 
Kennelling fees.

1.14.3 This year has seen a significant increase in the number of stray dogs reported and 
collected out of hours. The increased cost to our contractor Ward Security is offset 
by the increased income.

1.14.4 At present, where the Dog Warden returns a stray dog to the owner without the 
need for kennelling, a charge is made at the prescribed fee of £25. This rate was 
introduced, after agreement by the Local Environmental Management Advisory 
Board, in July 2009.  We do not propose increasing this fee as the low fee 
encourages owners to identify their dog by microchipping their pet. 

Page 32



11

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

Service Current Charge Recommended 
Charge

Income 
Full Year

Stray Dog 
Redemption 
Fee - Return 
Direct to owner

£25 (Statutory fee) £25 (Statutory fee) £1500

Stray Dog 
Redemption 
Fee - Kennelling 
required

£78 plus detention 
(kennelling) expenses 
Includes statutory fee. 

£79 plus detention 
(kennelling) expenses. 
Includes statutory fee.

£7600

1.15 Household Bulky Refuse Collection Service

1.15.1 This service provides for the collection of up to six items of household waste 
which will not otherwise fit within the wheeled bin.  The current charge is £47. The 
contractor charges the Council for each collection.  The Council may then pass on 
our costs to the householder including our handling costs.

1.15.2 The Council’s policy is to waive recharge of the costs where the person requesting 
the service is in receipt of Council tax reduction benefit.  In order to encourage 
residents to look at more sustainable disposal options the free service is limited to 
one every three months. 

1.15.3 We have reviewed the administration costs and feel that from April 2015, a charge 
of £48.20 should apply for each service request which allows for the collection of 
up to six items. 

Service Current Charge Recommended 
Charge

Income 
Full Year

Household Bulky 
Refuse Collection

£47 £48.20 £41,750

1.15.4 The proposed total charge of £48.20 for six items is within the range of those of 
neighbouring councils who tend to charge per item:

Maidstone B.C. Sevenoaks D.C. Tun. Wells B.C.

1-4 Items : £22.50
5-8 Items- £32.50.
No concessions.

£17 per item
No Concessions

£30 per item. 
Concessions at one item 

per month.

1.15.5 This service does not include fridge and freezer collections which are free of 
charge to all residents due to the potential damage from CFCs. 

Page 33



12

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

1.16 Refuse collection

1.16.1 On occasion the waste services team receive requests from customers to empty 
wheeled bins where the customer has not placed the bin out for collection. In 
general, where it is the resident’s fault the contractor is not obliged to return. On 
these occasions the team are often asked by the customer if they can pay for a 
collection. 

1.16.2 We propose introducing a collection charge of £15 to cover these circumstances. 
This charge covers the contractor cost, £13.41 rising by RPI annually and a small 
administration fee. 

1.16.3 We propose that this service is introduced for a trial period of 6 months starting 
February 2015. We will then review and report back to the Local Environmental 
Management Advisory Board following the trial.  

1.16.4 Cabinet is RECOMMENDED to: 

1) approve the scale of charges for condemned food certificates, exported 
food certificates, contaminated land monitoring, sampling private water 
supplies, stray dog redemption fees, household bulky refuse collection with 
effect from 1 April 2015 as detailed in the above report; and

2) approve the introduction of a charge for emptying wheeled bins, where the 
contractor is not at fault and the customer requests paying for the service, 
with effect from 1 February 2015 for a trial period of 6 months.

STREET NAMING & NUMBERING SERVICES
1.17 Street Naming & Numbering - Introduction

1.17.1 The requirement to provide a Street Naming & Numbering service is derived from 
the Towns Improvement Clauses act 1847, the Public Health Acts Amendment 
Act 1907 and the County of Kent Act 1981. The TMBC Street Naming & 
Numbering Policy sets out the framework under which the service is delivered in 
this authority.

1.17.2 IT Services GIS section have been responsible for delivery of this service for just 
over a year. During this time the actual cost of service delivery has been 
calculated by recording staff processing time, software costs and postage costs.

1.17.3 In line with the previous fee schedule the following priorities have been accounted 
for in the latest review:

Page 34



13

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

 There should be no overall reduction of income to the Council through the 
SNN function;

 The cost of SNN to the Council should, where possible, be recovered 
through fees and charges (noting that this is not always possible, and not 
always desirable);

 Ensure there are no ‘perverse incentives’ to apply for alternative naming 
schemes to minimise costs;

 Ensure there is clarity in the fee schedule to avoid confusion and the need 
fo officer discretion in charging fees.; and

 Where workloads are sufficient to justify such, additional new fees should 
be considered.

1.17.4 The changes introduced in the fee structure last year continue to address the five 
principles set out above. For the purposes of this year’s review I have 
concentrated on principles 1 and 2 ensuring that the cost of SNN to the Council is 
recovered where possible through fees and charges.

1.18 Proposed Fee scale for Street Naming and Numbering

1.18.1 A development is considered to be separate if they are received on separate 
applications and/or they do not share a common road which is also being named 
for the first time as part of the application.

1.18.2 Individual flats are considered as individual plots.

1.18.3 New Properties

Up to three in-fill properties on an existing street Current Fee 2014/15 Proposed 
Fee 

2015/16
Addressing one new in-fill property £169 £175
Addressing two to three in-fill properties £87 per property £90
Where four or more properties are to be named or 
numbered, the fee for new
developments (below) will be levied.

Four or more in-fill properties on an existing street, or new properties on a new street
Fee for naming of a street, other than in relation to new 
property addressing

£205 £210

Fee for addressing plots, including street naming if
Required 1- 4 Units £205 +£31 per unit £210 +£35
5 – 10 Units £205 +£26 per unit £210 +£30
11 or more units £410 +£11 per unit £415 +£15

Page 35



14

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

1.18.4 Existing Properties

Renumbering an existing property £51 £60
Renaming an existing property, not in a current 
numbering scheme

£51 £60

Registering the addition or change or an alias to a
numbered property

£51 £60

Removing an existing alias from a numbered property No charge No charge
Rename an existing street £1,540 £1,640
Rename a block of flats £1,540 £1,640
Fee for addressing units (flats) when splitting an 
existing
property

£87 per unit £90

Fee for addressing a single property when merging
separate units

£169 £170

1.18.5 It is RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that the above fee Schedule for Street Naming 
and Numbering be adopted from 1 April 2015.

1.19 Legal Implications

1.19.1 The Council’s financial rules require that all fees and charges must be reviewed at 
least once a year and be reported to Members. 

1.20 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.20.1 As set out above in relation to individual fees and charges.

1.21 Risk Assessment

1.21.1 As part of the review of fees and charges Chief Officers will consider the risks 
associated with any proposals.

1.22 Equality Impact Assessment

1.23 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance 
to the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

1.24 Recommendations

1.24.1 Recommendations are set out at the end of each section.

Background papers: contact: Adrian Stanfield
Tina Levett

Page 36



15

Finance,Inv&PropertyAB-KD-Part 1 Public 07 January 2015

Nil Mike O’Brien
Jane Heeley

Michael Campbell-Lenaghan
David Partridge

Sharon Shelton
Director of Finance & Transformation on behalf of Management Team

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1

TONBRIDGE CASTLE GATEHOUSE CHARGES

2014 TOURIST ATTRACTION CHARGES

Venue Adult 
(£)

Child

 (£)

Family 
(£)

Tonbridge Castle 7.70 4.40 21.00

Lullingstone Castle 7.00 4.00 18.00

Arundel Castle 16.00 9.00 41.00

Hever Castle 15.50 8.70 39.70

Chiddingstone 8.00 4.00 21.50

Penshurst Place 10.00 6.50 28.00

Leeds Castle 19.00 11.00 -

Groombridge Place 9.95 8.45 33.95

Prices may vary as these are set at different times of the year

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2

Tonbridge Council Chamber
Concessionary Users 2015/16

 Bridge Trust
 Citizens Advice Bureau
 Guide Dogs for the Blind
 Home Start West Kent
 KCC Walking Bus (Kent County playing fields)
 Lyons Commuters (Tonbridge) To be approved
 Mencap
 Police
 Platonic Arts
 Relate 
 Royal British Legion –Tonbridge Branch 
 Slade Residents Association
 Small Businesses Federation
 Tonbridge Adult Education Centre
 Tonbridge Access Group
 Tonbridge Allotments and Garden Association
 Tonbridge Arts Group
 Tonbridge Camera Group
 Tonbridge Civic Society
 Tonbridge Historical Society
 Tonbridge Memorial Gardens 
 Tonbridge Model Engineering Society
 Tonbridge Sports Association
 Tonbridge Lions Club
 Tonbridge Town Lands & Richard Mylls Charity
 Voluntary Action within Kent -VAWK
 West Kent Chamber of Commerce & Industries
 West Kent Community Health Forum
 West Kent Victim Support

Proposed changes are highlighted in bold above

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 3

TONBRIDGE CASTLE COUNCIL CHAMBER
CONCESSIONARY USERS

Terms & Conditions

Due to the increased number of requests by Concessionary Users to book the 
Council Chamber certain restrictions have had to be put in place to ensure fair 
usage for all concerned.

We would ask you to take into account the following restrictions when making your 
bookings.

 
 Free use will be limited to two sessions per month between 01 October until 31 

March each year (a session being morning or afternoon) or a seven day period in 
the case of exhibitions.

 Free use will not be available on Friday evenings as this time may be required to 
set up and rehearse for weddings the following day.

 Free use is limited to 5pm, after which caretaking costs become payable.

 Concessionary bookings will not be accepted more than 12 months in advance.

 A charge will be made for cleaning in the event of food being consumed.

 One Parking Permit only will be issued to the hirer.

NB – If charges are agreed for concessionary use, the above will be amended to 
refer to “concessionary charge” rather than “free use”

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Annex 4

TONBRIDGE CASTLE COUNCIL CHAMBER

PROPOSED CHARGES 2015/16

Hire Charge Current
2014/15

(£)

Proposed 
2015/16

(£)

Current
Concessionary

Rate
2014/15

(£)

Proposed 
Concessionary 

Rate
2015/16

(£)
First 3 hours 95.00 95.00 23.00 24.00

Plus each additional 
hour or part

40.00 40.00 8.00 8.00

Caretaking per hour 30.00 30.00 16.00 16.00

Cleaning charge *(1) 45.00 45.00 35.00 35.00

Daily rate 200.00 200.00 38.00 38.00

Weekly rate 895.00 895.00 95.00 95.00

Drinks machine 99p per cup 99p per cup 99p per cup 99p per cup

*(1) Cleaning charge only applies to users where food is eaten.

All charges shown are inclusive of VAT where applicable.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5

TONBRIDGE CASTLE WEDDING CHARGES 2014/15

COMPARISON WITH OTHERS

VENUE PRICE
(£)

Tonbridge Castle Chamber 735

Tonbridge Castle Gatehouse 1,100

Boughton Monchelsea Place 1200

Registrar’s Office (Standard Charge)
Tunbridge Wells (for 50 people)

667

Hever Castle (Astor Room) 2250

Chiddingstone Castle 2,950

Penshurst Place (Monday-Friday 
only)

2,394

All charges shown are inclusive of VAT.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet  - Part 1 Public 12 February 2015 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

12 February 2015

Report of the Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Transformation
Part 1- Public

A MORE DETAILED SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT ON “SETTING THE BUDGET FOR 
2015/16” AND A REPORT ON “SETTING THE COUNCIL TAX FOR 2015/16” WILL 
BE CIRCULATED BEFORE THE MEETING ON 12 FEBRUARY

Matters for Information

1 SETTING THE BUDGET

This is a holding report to update Members on where we are in setting the 
Budget for 2015/16.

1.1 Setting the Budget 2015/16

1.1.1 At the Full Council meeting on 17 February, Members will determine both the 
Budget and the level of council tax for 2015/16.  The detailed Estimates for 
2015/16 prepared by your Officers, having regard to the guidance given by 
Cabinet, have been carefully considered by the Finance, Innovation and Property 
Advisory Board and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

1.1.2 The remaining piece of the ‘jigsaw’ is the final Local Government Finance 
Settlement announcement which is expected to be some time during the week 
commencing 2 February.

1.1.3 Once the Final Settlement is received detailed supplementary reports on Setting 
the Budget for 2015/16 and on Setting the Council Tax for 2015/16 will be 
circulated to Members in advance of the meeting to enable the Cabinet to make 
appropriate recommendations to Council. 

1.2 Legal Implications

1.2.1 There are a number of legislative requirements to consider in setting the Budget 
which will be addressed as we move through the budget cycle.

1.2.2 The Localism Act gives local communities the power to veto excessive council tax 
increases.  The Secretary of State will determine a limit for council tax increases 
which has to be approved by the House of Commons.  If an authority proposes to 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



2

Cabinet  - Part 1 Public 12 February 2015 

raise council tax above this limit they will have to hold a referendum to get 
approval for this from local voters who will be asked to approve or veto the rise.

1.3 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.3.1 As set out in the detailed supplementary reports.

1.4 Risk Assessment

1.4.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Financial Officer, when 
calculating the Council Tax Requirement, to report on the robustness of the 
estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves for which the 
budget provides.  Consideration will and is given to the risks associated with any 
budget setting process where various financial and other assumptions have to be 
made.  To mitigate the risks detailed estimates are formulated in conjunction with 
Services taking into account past outturn, current spending plans and likely future 
demand levels / pressures and external guidance on assumptions obtained where 
appropriate.

1.4.2 The Medium Term Financial Strategy sets out the high level financial objectives 
the Council wishes to fulfil and underpins the budget setting process for the 
forthcoming year and over the Strategy period.  As the Council’s high level 
financial planning tool the Strategy needs to be reviewed and updated at least 
annually and in the current climate regularly reviewed by Management Team.  In 
addition, not identifying and implementing the requisite savings will put at risk the 
integrity of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

1.4.3 There is so much uncertainty and volatility particularly in some of our major 
sources of income that financial planning is becoming increasingly difficult with the 
increased risk of significant variances compared to projections.

1.4.4 Where a scheme is to be funded, in full or in part, from a pending developer 
contribution and in the interim from the Council’s own resources there is a risk of 
an unbudgeted commitment if that developer contribution is not forthcoming.

1.4.5 Failure to endorse a satisfactory Capital Strategy may lead to a capital 
programme which does not fully support the Council’s Key Priorities and 
Improvement Actions.

1.4.6 Any increase in council tax above the relevant threshold, even by a fraction of a 
percentage point, would require a referendum to be held.

Background papers:

Nil

contact: Sharon Shelton
Neil Lawley

Julie Beilby Sharon Shelton
Chief Executive Director of Finance and Transformation

Page 50



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Apologies for absence
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Leisure Services - Review of Charges 2015/16
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3

	4 Review of Fees and Charges 2015/16
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Annex 5

	5 Setting the Budget for 2015/16
	7 Urgent Items
	8 Exclusion of Press and Public
	9 Urgent Items

